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1894 City Atlas. The map indicates that by the early 1890s the streets of the survey area were largely filled with
frame dwellings.



29

1890s to 1950s: Connecticut Street Becomes a Commercial
Thoroughfare and the Area Becomes a Neighborhood of Middle

Class Italian American Home Owners

During the first decades of the twentieth century, the streets of the survey area continued to be
filled in with middle class residential architecture. The scale and character of buildings generally
followed trends present in the 1890s and modest single and double family homes continued to be
erected until the mid-1950s. In addition, apartment buildings, often housing shops on their
ground floor, began to appear in the neighborhood. Although few residents commissioned
homes by local architects, real estate entrepreneurs did employ their services for these new

commercial and apartment buildings.

The shopping needs of area residents were originally met by small businesses housed in
frame buildings such as those at 321 Vermont Street (1886) and 400 Fargo Avenue (1888).
These were essentially large houses with ground floor storefronts. Often the merchant lived with
his family above their establishment. The 1890s saw the construction of considerably larger
brick buildings that featured several stores on the ground floor and apartments above. Examples
include 236 Massachusetts Avenue (1895), The Buffington, 197 Fifteenth Street (1893) and The
Lincoln, 326-336 Fourteenth Street (1896, Eckel & Ackerman).

236 Massachusetts Avenue (1895), a well-preserved store and apartment building
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Connecticut Street as a Commercial Thoroughfare

Although smalls scale commerce was scattered throughout the survey area, in the early
twentieth century, Connecticut Street now emerged as the chief shopping thoroughfare of the
district. The street soon began to acquire brick commercial buildings beginning with the Zeiler
Building at 367-369 (1889, Stephen A. Bishop, arch.) and the heavily altered Thebaud Bros.
Building at 334-338 (1892, James R. Kimball, arch.). At five stories, the Zink Block (1896, C.
D. Swan, arch.) at 344-348 is the tallest commercial building in the survey area and is one of the
best preserved examples of its type remaining in Buffalo. By 1900, yellow brick replaced red as
the preferred material for the area’s commercial buildings. The fine store and apartment building
built at 356-358 (1903, Louis P. J. Eckel) is illustrative of both the new material and the reuse of
existing building stock in the neighborhood. Although much of the street’s former vibrancy is
gone, it preserves a number of large buildings with retail space on the ground floor and
apartments above that bear testimony to former plain and simple prosperity. In 1902, to provide
the lot for his new building, owner Louis C. Huhl moved the existing home at 360 Connecticut to
215 Normal Avenue (where it still stands), and then moved the existing store and dwelling at 356
Connecticut over to 360 (where it stood until being demolished in 2008). Other notable
commercial buildings erected on Connecticut Street include those at 406 (1896), Kener’s Hall at
410-414 (1905) and a later example at 389-403 (1923).
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Zink Block, 344-348 Connecticut St. (1896, C. D. Swan) 356-358 Connecticut St. (1903, Louis P. J. Eckel)
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By the second decade of the twentieth century, optimistic Connecticut Street
businesspersons placed collective advertisements in local papers and touted their street as “this
fast-growing business section.”*® Notable among the businesses that were here during the
thoroughfare’s golden age was Meibohm Fine Arts, one of the oldest and most respected
commercial art galleries in Buffalo. In 1901, Carl Meibohm, a photographer at the Pan
American Exposition, opened a frame shop and gallery at 324. A few years after, he moved into
the new building constructed next door at 326. The expanded business remained a Buffalo art
institution until 1957 when Carl Meibohm’s heirs moved the enterprise to East Aurora where it

continues to operate.

406 Connecticut St. (1896, Rudolph M. Gram) Kener’s Hall, 410-414 Connecticut Street, (1905)
Early Motion Picture Theaters

The survey area contains two very early motion picture theaters. The Mirror Theater (1909) at
311 Connecticut Street is probably the oldest remaining building in Buffalo that was designed as
a cinema. Although it has been used as a restaurant for over seven decades, it retains its
architectural integrity. The Frontier Theater (1913) at 148 Rhode Island Street was designed by
the prominent local architectural firm of Bethune, Bethune & Fuchs, but unfortunately its metal
cornice and marquee were recently removed. A third early theater still stands just east of the

survey area at 446 Connecticut Street, but it also has lost much of its architectural integrity.

19 «“Connecticut Street,” Buffalo Express, October 29, 1915, 6.
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Frontier Theater (1913, Bethune, Bethune & Fuchs), 148 Connecticut Street. Later the Senate Theater. Last used
as a motion picture theater in 1962. The metal cornice and marquee were recently removed, to the detriment of the
historical character of the building. Photo courtesy of Charles LaChuisa.

D’Youville College

Another important development in the neighborhood in the twentieth century was the founding
and growth of D*Youville College. Begun as Holy Angels Academy in 1861, the present three-
story Second Empire style building was completed in 1873 and extended in the same style to the
west (1887) and the east (1899). In 1907, construction began on a fourth section of the building
to the west in yellow brick and stone. It was designed by A. O. Von Herbulis of Washington,
DC, who was architect for many notable Roman Catholic buildings across the nation, including
Holy Angels School at 444 West Avenue, now the D’Youville College library. (The new section
was to be the first element of a new building that the institution planned to replace the Second
Empire building, but this was not carried out.) Upon completion of the new wing in 1908, the
school was rechristened D*Youville College. The campus began to grow again in the 1950s and
1960s when it expanded across Porter Avenue. The college has recently enlarged its campus

with the construction of a new building on the north side of Connecticut Street at porter Avenue.
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The Survey Area as an Italian American Neighborhood

During the 1920s and 1930s, the survey area became identified as a predominantly
middle class Italian American neighborhood. Italians began immigrating to Buffalo in the 1870s
and quickly became the third largest ethnic population in the city after the Poles and Germans.
Most came from southern Italy and Sicily, the poorest regions of the country at the time. At first,
immigrant communities in Buffalo tended to reflect the regional homes from which they came.
Those from central southern Italy tended to settle in the Lovejoy-Williams area; those from the
Abruzzi (central mountainous region of the peninsula) settled along East Delavan; the
Neapolitans immigrants grouped themselves closer to the center of town; Calabrians preferred
South Buffalo, and Sicilians moved into the now vanished streets around the terminus of the Erie
Canal and on the West Side. “Partly out of necessity, but one suspects, in large part out of
choice,” note historians Scott Eberle and Joseph Grande, “Italian-Americans moved into family
enterprises. They were particularly successful on the margins of Buffalo’s industrial economy,
in selling food, fruits and vegetables, or pasta products, and very occasionally as street
musicians. Many later found success as barbers, greengrocers, cobblers and restaurateurs.” It
was these types of employment that became many Italian immigrant families “passports to the
middle class” and the source of their entry into the North Prospect Hill neighborhood. Many of
these Italian American families came from “Little Italy,” the working class community on the
lower West Side of Buffalo centered around St. Anthony of Padua Church. “About two-thirds of
the entire number of Italians [in Buffalo] live in this west side colony” reported a local
newspaper in 1923.2" A conclusive indicator of the area’s importance within the Italian American
community was the Italian Business Mens’Association’s acquisition in 1922 of a former mansion

on nearby Busti Avenue (just outside the survey area) for their city-wide headquarters.?

20 Scott Eberle and Joseph A. Grande, Second Looks: A Pictorial History of Buffalo and Erie County. (Buffalo:
Donning Co., 1993), 94.

21 «“Rapid-fire Rises of Buffalo Italians to Business and Professional Heights Read Like Pages from Story-book,”
Buffalo Courier, January 7, 1923, 7.

22 “Italian Clubhouse Here Called the Most Beautiful in America,” Buffalo Courier, February 26, 1922. In Foreign
scrapbook, Buffalo & Erie County Public Library, vol. 1, 149.
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903 Prospect Avenue (1925), typical of the fine homes built in the survey area by Italian Americans.

For many Italian-Americans in the survey area and elsewhere, title to a private residence
was an important life goal. “Neither the immigrant generation nor its children conformed to the
American ideal of occupational success,” observes social historian Virginia Yans-McLaughlin,
“but they had their own standard of achievement, namely, the acquisition of family property,
usually a home.” By the 1920s, states Yans-McLaughlin, many immigrant families in Buffalo
owned their own home, a fact that made them feel that they had “reached the promised land.”
Italians not only purchased and altered many existing homes in the neighborhood, they also built
their own (often doubles), such as those at 260 Fourteenth Street (1925), 303 Plymouth Avenue
(1925), 569 West Avenue (1927) and 689 Prospect Avenue (1930). The achievement of this
traditional goal of success had often come with a serious drawback, however, for, says Yans-
McLaughlin, families often sacrificed “their children’s education and career prospects to do so.
Economically pressed Italians had to make this trade-off, and their choice was entirely consistent

with their familistic mentality.” Whatever its limitations might have been, the sense of pride in
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home and community that these people brought to the North Prospect Hill neighborhood was a

major factor in its growth, development, and long term stability.?

Since the early 1990s, the North Prospect Hill area has seen its ethnic mix change.
Hispanic Americans have moved into the area in significant numbers. This fact is reflected in
several small businesses catering to Spanish speaking customers and the conversion of the 500-
seat former Emmanuel Baptist Church, a congregation originally established in the neighborhood
in 1872,2* at Rhode Island Street and Normal Avenue into the Centro Evangelistico Alcance.
African American residents have also grown from a small number to about fifty percent of
current residents, while some Asian and Arab American groups are also represented. The Italian
American population, remains and still accounts for a significant portion of the inhabitants.
However, the recent closing of Our Lady of Loretto Roman Catholic church, a thriving Italian
American parish when the church was erected in 1949-1950 is an indicator of the
neighborhood’s ongoing transformation. Occupying the site of a former Presbyterian church, the
place of worship came into being in 1924 as a mission church to secure for Catholicism the
growing Italian population in the North Prospect Hill area. The demise of this large red brick
church--Buffalo architect Chester Oakley’s last important commission and one in which he
cautiously explored modernism--reflects the diminished number of Italian American families

now residing in the area.

3 Virginia Yans-McLaughlin, Family and Community: Italian Immigrants in Buffalo, 1880-1930. Urbana, IL: University of

Illinois Press, 1982, 47-48.

 |n 1872, the congregation erected a frame chapel at the corner of Prospect Avenue and Rhode Island Street. They
moved to the brick Gothic style building at 327 Rhode Island Street in 1922
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Centro Evangelistico Alcance, former Emmanuel Baptist Church (1920-1922), 327 Rhode Island Street. Miller &
McNeil, architects.
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Our Lady of Loretto RC Church (1949-1950), 158 Fifteenth Street. Chester Oakley, architect.
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Recommendations

Despite the existence of individual buildings that appear eligible for landmark and National
Register listing, he consultants see no historic district or multiple property nominations within
the survey area because of the lack of density of resources in the area. Many of the buildings
that have lost integrity nonetheless posses some historic elements and materials. If these are
demolished, the consultants recommend that a concerted effort be made to save and reuse these
elements rather than have them lost to history. Such organizations as Buffalo reuse should be

alerted to potential demolitions.

The consultants observed a number of “back houses” in the neighborhood—older structures that
were moved to the back of the lot to make way for a newer and usually larger dwelling at the
front of the property. Where feasible, consideration should be given to the possibility of moving

these back buildings o the front of vacant lots to serve as infill housing.

Neighborhood civic groups, e.g. PUSH and the Massachusetts Avenue Project, should be made
aware of the historic buildings within the survey area and use this information in their future
efforts to improve living standards in the area. This would be particularly important in light of
the recent success of the rehab of the Dolores Powell House on Massachusetts by the television
program Extreme Makeover: Home Edition. This event has sparked interest restoring in a
additional properties and streetscapes within the survey area. Moreover, the survey area may be
targeted for “green” redevelopment under the governor’s Sustainable Neighborhood Initiative.
The Local Initiatives Support Group in Buffalo, which is spearheading this project locally,
should be aware of the role historic resources could play in this model residential redevelopment

project.

Owners of commercial properties that have been designated eligible for National and State

Register listing should be made aware of the potential their buildings posses for receiving
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investment tax credits if properly restored. This might be especially effective in revitalizing

Connecticut Street, the historic commercial core of the survey area.

Community groups and D*Youville College should be made aware of this survey and
encouraged to work together to develop a sensible plan for campus expansion that would respect
the historic fabric and residential character and potential of the neighborhood.

The consultants do not see a need for further survey work in this neighborhood.

Copies of this survey should be distributed to local libraries, schools, civic and community

organizations

243 Plymouth Avenue, from Normal Avenue, rear view showing front and back houses.
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